
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Monday, 18th September, 2017

1.00 pm

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Monday, 18th September, 2017, at 1.00 pm Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership 

Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs T Dean, MBE (Vice-Chairman), Ms A Brett, 
Ms H Carpenter, Mrs T Carpenter, Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunn, Ms S Dunstan, 
Mr D Farrell, Ms L Fisher, Mrs L Game, Mrs S Gent, Mr R Graves, Mr S Gray, 
Mr S Griffiths, Ms S Hamilton, Mr A Heather, Ms N Khosla, Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, 
Ms C  Mutton, Mr M J Northey, Mrs S Prendergast and Mr P Segurola

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

Item 
No
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

1 Apologies and substitutes 

2 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 21 July 2017 (Pages 5 - 16)

3 Chairman's Announcements 

4 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

5 Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards (Pages 17 - 18)

6 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member (Pages 19 - 20)

7 Update on Mind Of My Own app for Children and Young People (Pages 21 - 24)

8 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care (Pages 25 - 38)

9 Placement Stability - the Sense Of Belonging service (Pages 39 - 64)



EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

John Lynch,
Head of Democratic Services
03000 410466

Friday, 8 September 2017

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Swale 1, Sessions 
House, County Hall, Maidstone on Friday, 21 July 2017.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Ms H Carpenter, Mr G Cooke, 
Ms S Dunstan, Ms M Emptage (Substitute for Ms S Dunn), Mr D Farrell, Ms L Fisher, 
Mrs L Game, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms S Hamilton, Mr A Heather, Ms N Khosla, 
Mr S J G Koowaree (Substitute for Mrs T Dean, MBE), Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, 
Mr M J Northey, Mrs S Prendergast, Ms N Sayer (Substitute for Ms A Brett) and 
Mr J Wright (Substitute for Mrs S Gent)

ALSO PRESENT: Mr R W Gough

IN ATTENDANCE: Lorraine Doran (Team Manager, Children, Young People and 
Education), Ms M L Hall (Commissioning Manager - Children Living Away From 
Home), Ms G O'Grady (Participation Co-ordinator, Specialist Children's Services), 
Mrs S Skinner (Head of Adoption Service), Ms C Smith (Head of Fostering Service) 
and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

15. Membership 
(Item 1)

The Panel noted that Alison Brett, Deputy Chief Nurse at the West Kent Clinical 
Commissioning Group, had joined the Panel as Bethan Haskins’ temporary 
replacement.  

16. Apologies and Substitutes 

Apologies for absence had been received from Teresa Carpenter, Trudy Dean, Sue 
Dunn, Sue Gent, Stuart Griffiths and Philip Segurola. 

George Koowaree was present as a substitute for Trudy Dean, Marion Emptage for 
Sue Dunn and John Wright for Sue Gent. 

17. Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 1 June 2017 
(Item 3)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 1 June 2017 are correctly 
recorded and they be signed by the Chairman. There were no matters arising. 

18. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item 4)

The Chairman announced that Teresa Carpenter, foster carer, had been awarded an 
MBE in the Queen’s Birthday Honours List, having been nominated by one of her 
foster children. This honour was very well deserved and the County Council was very 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



proud, and the Chairman placed on record her congratulations and best wishes to 
Teresa.   

19. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item 5)

1. Ms Dunstan gave a verbal update on the recent work of the OCYPC, the 
Super Council and Young Adults Council and the participation activities arranged for 
the summer. The text of the update will be attached to these minutes. Ms Dunstan 
and Ms Khosla responded to comments and questions from the Panel, including the 
following:-

a) young people were supported to manage their transition from being a 
looked after child to increasing their independence as they moved into 
adulthood.  The specific areas in which young people and their social 
workers identified a need for support would be discussed as part of the 
child in care review meetings and from the age of 16 years the pathway 
plan would be completed. There were updates on transition to 
independence seminars throughout the year for carers and care leavers, 
so they would have an outline of the support available to them; key 
transition issues could be highlighted to ensure a positive move to 
adulthood. 18+ care leavers were allocated a personal advisor (PA) who 
supported young people to resolve their individual issues and progress the 
pathway plans.  Young people were fully involved in their pathway plan 
which covered key areas, including housing, education and health;

b) Ms Khosla reported a very successful day out at Westminster for the 
launch by CenterPoint of research into housing and care leavers, ‘From 
Care to Where’.  A number of the participation apprentices attended and 
were able to provide feedback to MPs about the challenges with housing 
for care leavers.  The Children and Social Work Act 2017 was also 
considered as positive as it increased the responsibility for councils to 
provide support to care leavers from age 21 years, as currently, to 25 
years;

c) a key area of work with district council partners was to review and re-
negotiate community arrangements and establish a clear pathway for 16-
25 year olds leaving care and efforts to prevent homelessness among care 
leavers. The Chairman added that the County Council could look at using 
any property it owned as a way of boosting the places available to care 
leavers. The numbers of young people leaving care and requiring 
independent accommodation was increasing, Ms Khosla explained that a 
large number of UASC would soon be turning 18 and thus would acquire 
care leaver status and be eligible for 18+ services.  There was a 
comprehensive plan for managing the types of accommodation and the 
numbers of care leavers who would require accommodation. This detail 
was provided in the accompanying interim Sufficiency Strategy Report; and

d) the VSK apprentices were thanked and praised for their work in engaging 
with young people in care and encouraging participation, and they were 
described as a great asset to the County Council and the Panel.

Page 6



2. RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks. 

20. Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards 
(Item 6)

1. Ms O’Grady introduced the report and asked the Panel to support young 
people taking part in the fundraising Virtual Triathlon on 26 October 2017, in National 
Care Leavers Week. The aim of the exercise was to draw attention to the 
experiences of young people in care and leaving care and to offer others a chance to 
‘walk a mile in our shoes’ and better understand the experiences and issues. The 
Chairman commented that this was a very easy challenge to support and offered to 
provide some home-baked refreshments.  In response to questions, Ms O’Grady 
explained that:

a) all the challenges which had been reported to the Panel had now been 
completed and she thanked the Panel for the prompt responses to these;

b) challenge cards which had been submitted were listed in the regular 
OCYPC newsletter. Challenges relating to issues which were general or 
related to many young people would be set out in full, and shared with the 
Panel, while those which were personal to a specific young person would 
not be publicised or shared; 

c) social workers were aware of the challenge card process and should share 
news of it with children and young people and their carers and families; 
and

d) participation in the Virtual Triathlon could be sponsored online using the 
JustGiving page, and details of this would be sent to Panel Members.  

2. RESOLVED that the Challenge Card progress to date be noted and 
welcomed.  

21. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item 7)

1. Mr R Gough gave a verbal update on the following issues:-

Ofsted outcome, with particular reference to Corporate Parenting – since the 
last meeting of the Panel, the County Council had received an Ofsted rating of 
‘Good’. Its services for Looked After Children and permanence arrangements were 
particularly praised, the work of the OCYPC and the CPP in participation and 
engagement was highlighted as being particularly good, and services for care 
leavers, personal advisors and the VSK were noted as being good, although work 
with children in need and early protection needed improvement.  Mr Gough said he 
wanted to do more work with district council partners on accommodation for 16 and 
17 year olds and suggested that this be added to the Panel’s ongoing work 
programme. 
Queen’s Birthday Honours List award for Teresa Carpenter – Foster Carer 
Teresa Carpenter had been awarded an MBE in the Queen’s Birthday Honours list, 
having been nominated by one of her foster children. 

Page 7



UASC and National Transfer Scheme (NTS) trends – there had been a small 
seasonal increase in new arrivals this year, but nothing like the summer levels of 
2016 and 2015, and the NTS continued to take new arrivals away from Kent, leaving 
just the cohort of those who had arrived before the NTS and had remained in Kent as 
the responsibility of the County Council.  This year, the number of UASC in Kent had 
decreased from 388 and was expected shortly to reach 230, which would be Kent’s 
aggregate ‘share’ of the national UASC population. However, the number of UASC 
as 18+ care leavers was 771, and this figure would increase over time. The NTS was 
working well with the current level of new arrivals, but if arrivals had remained at 
2015 levels, the NTS would not have been able to cope. 
Adopter recruitment campaign – a recent media campaign to recruit new adopters 
had targeted particularly families willing to adopt sets of siblings and disabled 
children.  
Children in Care events over the summer – a lively programme of participation and 
engagement would run over the summer months, and this had been set out in the 
OCYPC verbal update. 

2. RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks. 

22. Review and Update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning 
Strategy 2015 - 2018 
(Item 8)

Ms M L Hall, Commissioning Manager, was in attendance for this item. 

1. Ms Hall introduced the report and responded to comments and questions from 
the Panel, including the following:- 

a) most UASC were young men, who would be placed in foster care if they 
were under 16, or at the Millbank centre if they were over 16.  Female 
UASC would always be placed directly in, and would then stay in, foster 
care if they were under the age of 18 years.  Most UASC under 18 years 
and who then became care leavers (18+ years) would be placed in shared 
accommodation.  Ms Khosla added that male UASC used to be placed in 
foster care but their numbers in 2015/16 meant many were being placed 
locally with in-house foster carers, and this impacted on local Kent children.  
It was easier for UASC to be placed out of area and with the independent 
sector as they did not have the same needs as citizen children to be placed 
locally for education and health continuity. UASC must acquire an 
immigration status before qualifying for social housing and so would enter 
shared accommodation.  This arrangement worked well as many preferred 
to live with others with whom they shared nationality, language and culture;

b) engagement between the County Council and district and borough councils 
varied but the relationship was improving over the last 12 – 18 months.  
There was work in progress to address the needs of 16/17 year old care 
leavers and those requiring housing-related support.  Ms Khosla and Mr 
Segurola served on a housing group with district and borough council 
colleagues, which was allocating additional government funding made 
available to support vulnerable young people.  The aim was to achieve a 
consistent approach across the whole county, with priority being given 
consistently to care leavers, to seek to avoid the use of emergency 

Page 8



accommodation. The Chairman commented that those Members who also 
served on district councils could lobby locally to support this work. A further 
report on this subject would be made to the Panel’s next meeting in 
September 2017; and

c) in response to concern expressed about the reduction since 2014/15 in the 
number of children being adopted, Ms Khosla explained that this was partly 
due to the clearance of a backlog of cases which was evident in 2014/15 
and partly to the frequent use of special guardianship orders (SGOs) by 
courts, often against the County Council’s advice and wishes. The County 
Council would challenge such decisions and sometimes proceedings would 
have to be instigated a second or third time to ensure that children were 
safe.

2. RESOLVED that the proposal to review and update the Sufficiency, 
Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015 – 2018, and the information 
given in response to comments and questions, be noted.

23. Looked After Children in the Criminal Justice System; a summary of the 
Taylor, Laming and Lammy reviews 
(Item 9)

1. Ms Fisher introduced the report, summarised the key points of the three 
reviews and outlined the youth justice system in Kent and the challenges it faced, in 
particular the high number of looked after children in the system and the work being 
undertaken to address this. She responded to comments and questions from the 
Panel, including the following:

a) the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner had praised the work done in 
Kent to address the problems faced by children in care entering the 
criminal justice system, particularly in identifying young people with mental 
health problems, addressing the provision of CAMHS and establishing 
alternative locations in which young people with mental health issues could 
be held and questioned;

b) Ms Fisher clarified that the figures given in the report referred only to 
Kent’s resident population of children and young people in care; those 
placed in Kent by other local authorities were counted separately.  This 
was welcomed by Panel members;

c) the number of other local authorities’ young people in care in the criminal 
justice system had decreased in the period examined by the reviews, while 
the number of Kent’s resident care population in the system had not 
changed.  To avoid large numbers of young people leaving care with the 
stigma of a criminal record, projects to avoid criminalising their behaviour 
and to use ‘informal community resolution’ in place of custodial sentences 
was proving to be very effective;   

d) one speaker commented that often the most effective way of deterring a 
young person from criminal behaviour was a stern police warning and the 
shock and anger of their family at having a police visit to their home. 
Another speaker added that young people should be made fully aware that 

Page 9



a police caution was not something to be viewed lightly as it counted as a 
criminal record; 

e) Ms Fisher confirmed that, although levels of knife crime and use of noxious 
substances among young people had increased nationally, this had not 
been the case in Kent; 

f) Ms Fisher explained that health and education services in the criminal 
justice system were required to be provided via multi-disciplinary and 
partnership working.  This was working well, attendance and inclusion 
figures were good and working relations between youth justice workers and 
young people were strong.  Any young person in the criminal justice 
system was required to have 25 hours’ education per week, up to the age 
of 16, which was delivered by formal multi-disciplinary working, to replace 
previous, less, formal arrangements. As a result of this, the number of 
NEETs in this cohort had been much reduced; 

g) a re-settlement programme, involving joint working between youth justice 
and social workers, aimed to reduce levels of re-offending.  A young 
person’s accommodation and education/training had been identified as key 
factors affecting their likelihood to re-offend, once released;

h) factors affecting the quality of service which could be delivered included 
relations between, and the extent of common working practices of, the 
professionals involved. Relations between the youth justice service and the 
Police were good, with good integration and consistence of approach.  
Work was ongoing to review charging decisions and explore alternatives.  
With Health, there were opportunities to improve working relations, 
particularly around provision of CAMHS and speech, language and 
communications. With the Probation service, working relations were good 
but staff shortages had had an impact;

i) the positive picture of the service in Kent was welcomed and the team 
congratulated on the progress made and on the clarity of the information 
provided in the report, which allowed the Panel to have a full picture and 
understand the issues;

j) the protocols for joint working had been reviewed and updated. Protocols 
covered all looked after children in Kent, including those placed by other 
local authorities. The support for care leavers and transition from youth 
services to adult services were being reviewed;

k) it was important that expectations of the CAMHS service were realistic, as 
there was much work still to be done to develop the workforce and address 
other issues once the new provider took over, in the very near future. It 
would take some time for improvements to make a difference;

l) the NHS Transforming Care Programme now included children and would 
seek to ensure that health services were linked effectively, which would 
help the general effectiveness of the services and placement opportunities 
which could be offered to young people trying to move out of the criminal 
justice system, as a large proportion of them had emotional health and 

Page 10



wellbeing issues, for example eating disorders and behavioural problems.  
It was important that young people be placed as close as possible to their 
family so they could benefit from their support;

m) asked if she was able to comment on the services received by young 
people in the criminal justice system, Ms Dunstan said she did not know 
any child in care who had experienced this.  Ms Moody confirmed that 
Foster Carers received training in supporting any young person involved in 
drugs and knife crime and said she felt prepared, should she need to tackle 
such issues; and

n) Ms Khosla noted there was an ongoing review of casework that would 
assess the factors which influenced a young person becoming involved in 
the criminal justice system. It was important to look at the multi-agency 
response to a young person’s care experience and what had lead them 
into criminality. Ms Khosla reminded the Panel of the policies which 
supported looked after children in any situation, including the Independent 
Reviewing Officer and social workers and advocacy support. The number 
of young people leaving care currently serving custodial sentences was 
very small; 29 out of a total care leaver population of approximately 1,300. 
   

2. RESOLVED that the information on the impact of the criminal justice system 
on children in care in Kent, set out in the report and given in response to 
comments and questions, be noted.   

24. Independent Reviewing Service Annual Report 2016/2017 
(Item 10)

Ms L Doran, IRO Manager, South East Kent, was in attendance for this item.

1. Ms Doran introduced the annual report and summarised the highlights of the 
work of the IRO service in the past year and plans for the future.  She then 
responded to comments and questions from the Panel, including the following:-

a) the developments in the IRO role since the inception of the service, and the 
extent to which it had become part of a child’s life, were welcomed, and 
thanks and appreciation expressed for the great amount of work which had 
gone into this development of the role;  

b) asked how any action arising from a young person’s last review before 
leaving care would be followed up, Ms Doran explained that an 18+ team 
member would attend the penultimate review meeting so clear tasks could 
be identified and agreed and would then attend the first review meeting 
after transition to provide a link and make sure that any issues identified 
did not get lost in transition; 

c) any young person seeking urgent help to alleviate anxiety about transition 
or leaving care should be able to rely on their IRO for support and to ‘fight 
their corner’. IROs were skilled at arguing for services and being persistent 
on behalf of a young person.  Any issue raised which they saw had not 
been progressed would be escalated for action to the Area Assistant 

Page 11



Directors responsible for the line management of the case, although the 
need do this was not as great as it once had been; and 

d) asked about staffing levels, Ms Doran confirmed that there were currently 
two locum IROs and that work was in hand to make permanent 
appointments.  Permanence was important in allowing the team to build 
relationships and share and develop best practice.  

2. RESOLVED that the Independent Reviewing Service Annual Report 
2016/2017 and its findings, and the information given in response to 
comments and questions, be noted, and the Panel’s appreciation and thanks 
for their work be conveyed to the IRO team. 

25. Annual Report 2016-2017, Adoption Service 
(Item 11)

Mrs S Skinner, Head of the Adoption Service, was in attendance for this item. 

1. Mrs Skinner introduced the report and said how pleased she was that the 
service had been rated ‘Good’ with some ‘Outstanding’ elements and said she hope 
that it would all be outstanding in a year’s time.  The development of the service had 
been good and it had exceeded its performance targets.  The campaign to recruit 
more adopters sought to achieve more placements for sibling groups or, if it proved 
not possible for them to be placed together, to seek to achieve ongoing contact.  
Post-adoption support services were good and involved multi-disciplinary working 
with partners.  The availability of this support would help to attract more adopters. 

2. Ms Khosla added that the Ofsted inspection process had been intense and 
very thorough. Inspectors had spoken to Members, adopters and staff, including 
admin staff, and had examined case files, and had actively sought to find faults. 

3. Mrs Skinner and Ms Khosla responded to comments and questions from the 
Panel, including the following:-

a) a view was expressed that Kent’s Adoption Service was already 
outstanding, and that targets and expectations should be realistic. Ms 
Khosla noted that Kent was meeting the national targets and, in some 
cases, exceeding them; and

b) placement of siblings was a particular challenge, as some adopters were 
simply not able to take on two or three new children at once, particularly if 
those children had complex needs or behavioural difficulties. The Family 
Finding team managers held weekly meetings at which they would review 
every child currently with an adoption plan and seek to make links with 
suitable adopters as soon as possible.  This matching process was 
supported by adoption activity days, of which Kent was a pioneer.  At 
these, children seeking adoption and adopters who had been approved, or 
were approaching the end of the approval process, would be able to meet 
informally and interact in a number of activities.  In July 2017, five children 
had been placed for adoption as a result on one activity day.  

Page 12



4. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in response to 
comments and questions, and the range of services provided and their 
suitability to meet the needs of adoptees and their families, in order to provide 
an ‘Outstanding’ service, be noted.

     

26. The Kent Fostering Business Plan 
(Item 12)

Ms C Smith, Head of the Fostering Service, was in attendance for this item.

1. Ms Smith introduced the report and highlighted that a key area of work was 
the campaign to recruit more foster carers.  The target had been 200 from September 
2017 and 100 had so far been recruited.  Further events in the summer would seek to 
attract more, including an informal event similar to the adoption activity days, at which 
children in care and prospective foster carers could meet. Use of social media as a 
contact tool was also ongoing. 

2. Ms Smith and Ms Khosla responded to comments and questions from the 
Panel, including the following:-

a) asked how the Corporate Parenting Panel could help recruit more foster 
carers, Ms Smith explained that elected Members could spread the word in 
their electoral divisions and could also support and nominate foster carers 
for the annual awards ceremony on 4 October. Due to its proximity to 
London, Kent was forced to compete with London Boroughs to recruit 
foster carers and adopters, and also to compete with independent fostering 
agencies, of which there were 70 in Kent and which were able to pay 
higher rates to their carers.  Members were asked to advise Ms Smith and 
the fostering team of local events at which they could set up a stall to 
promote the fostering role; 

b) currently in Kent, 12% of all people expressing an interest in fostering 
would achieve final approval to become foster carers, a rate which was 
comparable to that of other local authorities.  Applicants were checked very 
thoroughly, and some would prove unsuitable for a variety of reasons, 
including a lack of suitable accommodation (ie a separate bedroom for a 
fostered child), poor health or problems with debt. Employers were usually 
supportive of an employee who wished to foster and were often able to 
offer them flexible working hours and arrangements which would support 
the fostering role. Social media checks were also made, and any material 
accessed or posted by the applicant which suggested racist or homophobic 
views or any unwholesome practise would exclude them from being 
considered. This vetting process was set out in and supported by the 
Fostering Regulations of 2011 and was necessarily thorough to ensure that 
any child placed with a foster carer would be safe and appropriately 
nurtured; and

c) asked how the County Council could ensure that independent fostering 
agencies were as strict in their vetting, Ms Khosla explained that the Kent 
Fostering team would share its risk assessment tools and set out clearly 
the standards which it expected to see applied for all placement, whether 

Page 13



they were with Kent foster carers or independent fostering agencies. For 
some groups of children, for example, girls over 12, scrutiny would be 
enhanced.  It was important that young people should feel safe and 
confident of being able to disclose any concerns about, or problems they 
had with, their foster carers, and Ms Khosla assured the Panel that 
investigation of such issues would be as thorough and as stringent as 
possible.  The final toolkit for assessing foster carers was currently being 
finalised and, when ready, would be reported to a future meeting of the 
Panel. 

3.   RESOLVED that the information set out in report and given in response to 
comments and questions be noted, and the Kent Fostering Business Plan 
2017- 2018 be approved.     

Page 14



Friday 21st July 2017 

Corporate Parenting Panel Update –

On behalf of the Children in Care Councils and Young Adult Council

 Whitsun Half Term Holiday Activities 

- Nelson Park Riding Centre – horse riding (18 young people attended)
- Team Tutsham – horse riding (24 young people attended)

OCYPC & Super Council 

- Team building activity day at Kingswood Outdoor Activity Centre – to build relationships between 
members of the Super Council and OCYPC by way of a first steps approach to encourage some 
older Super Council members to move up to the OCYPC. They suggested that a ‘Bio Book’ would 
be good for new members to look though before they join the council. 

- 20 members of our OCYPC & Super Council attended. 

YAC

Rob Sparks (Education Employment and Training Support Officer) from the 18+ team joined us to 
speak about interview skills. He offered everyone 7 Top Tips on things what to do when going for an 
interview. 

- Appearance/Presentation- Dress to impress 
- Body language.
- Be on time.
- Make Good First impressions 
- Do research on the organisation. 
- Ask to get questions repeated if you don’t understand.
- Ask questions about the company. 

The YAC group all suggested various charities they would like to raise money for this year.  The 
Charity chosen was for the Canterbury Umbrella Centre.  (See flyer for more details) 

Summer Activities

- Tuesday 25th July ( DCS Family Fun Day VSK Supporting this event) 
- Thursday 27th July (Bewl Water 32 YP) 
- Monday 31st July (County Wide CIC Event) 

Page 15



- Wednesday 2nd August (Heaver Castle 24YP)
- Thursday 3rd August (16+ & YAC Trip Thorpe Park) 
- Wednesday 9th August (Creed Outdoor Learning 30YP) 
- Friday 11th August (Little Potters 12YP) 
- Thursday 17th August (Railway Children 20YP) 
-  Friday 25h August (West Kent Family Fun day VSK Supporting) 

Centrepoint research launch – From care to where? 

On Monday 17th July 2017 at the Macmillan Room at Portcullis House, 1 Parliament St, 
Westminster. Naintara Khosla, Joanne Carpenter , Sophia Dunstan, Chloe Mutton, Chelsea 
Goodwin, Andrew McDonald and Mark Weinel went to the report launch of From care to where? 
The charity supports Care Leavers to be stable and for them to achieve a positive outcome. 
There were other industries at the launch; such as London Borough of Havering, CenterPoint, 
House of Commons, Westminster City Council and many more.

A safe and secure home is the foundation on which Care Leavers can build their lives after care. 
Have this base means that they can fulfil ambitions, gain qualifications or enter work, establish 
themselves within a community.

They share their key findings of young people’s barrier to accessing and sustaining tenancy. The 
difficulties that where addressed were:

- Access to housing 
- Affordability
- Poor preparedness to manage a tenancy
- Loneliness and poor mental health
- Insufficient ongoing support
- Unsafe housing and homelessness

Another point that Care Levers felt strongly about, is that Care Leavers are the responsibility of 
the Corporate Parent and the government duty is to ensure that Care Leavers receive the 
support they need to help achieve guidelines to independence. This can be done by formally 
reviewing their Pathway plan process in consultation with looked-after and care leavers to ensure 
it is accessible and flexible. This will reduce sofa surfing, sleeping rough, care leavers feeling 
unsafe in their accommodation and for them to receive the right support for the individual needs.

Page 16



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 18 September 2017

Subject: CORPORATE PARENTING CHALLENGE CARDS

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:  This report provides Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel with an 
overview of progress made on previous and provides detail of current challenges. 

Recommendation:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
the progress made on challenges made by our young people and ATTEND the 
charity fundraiser 'Virtual Triathlon to Calais' on Thursday 26 October 2017.

1. Challenge Card Update

1.1 Young Adults Council (YAC) would like senior staff, members and 
corporate parents to support the upcoming YAC charity fundraiser 'Virtual 
Triathlon to Calais' on Thursday 26 October 2017 by attending the event 
and helping to raise sponsorship

The invitation to corporate parents to support this event has been well received 
and strong commitment has been given.  The event has been promoted at 
member induction events, Corporate Parenting Panel and noted in the Director 
of Specialist Children’s Services (SCS) newsletter that is distributed to all SCS 
staff.  The YAC will continue to promote the date and encourage staff and 
members to attend the event.  A meeting with the Umbrella Centre has been 
arranged for early September to look at setting up a Just Giving Page for 
sponsorship.

At the previous Corporate Parenting Panel meeting in July, a request was made 
that there be increased communication between SCS and foster carers to assist 
better understanding of the purpose of Challenge Cards.  A number of actions 
were undertaken to fulfil this request including:

 The purpose of the Challenge Card and the associated process to be 
highlighted in the SCS newsletter to inform and update all SCS staff.  
This has been shared in the September newsletter.

 The Virtual School Kent (VSK) participation apprentices will ensure that 
this is included in the newly qualified social workers induction training 
on ‘The Voice of the Child’.

 The VSK participation apprentices attend Foster Carer Support Groups 
and they will include in their discussions the process for looked after 
children to produce challenges to corporate parents. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



 The VSK participation newsletter for Children in Care (CiC) is produced 
three times a year and will include details of the challenge card and the 
process involved.  This is sent to foster carers and CiC.

 The Challenge Cards and their importance for CiC will be included in 
the newsletter for foster carers and will promote the benefits of children 
and young people attending the participation group meetings and days 
out.

It was also requested at the July Corporate Parenting Panel meeting that the 
Young Lives Foundation (YLF) be involved with the Challenge Card process 
and this has been agreed with the Director of Specialist Children’s Services.  
Discussions will be undertaken with YLF to ensure that they are aware of the 
process of the Challenge Cards.  A key aspect of the Challenge Cards is to 
create a better environment to provide improved care for all looked after 
children.  YLF will be able to promote Challenge Cards with the young people 
who use their services; this in turn should support and contribute to 
improvements to the care children and young people receive.  The YLF 
representative of the Corporate Parenting Panel has been provided with the 
outline for raising a challenge.

2. Current Challenges

2.1 The current challenge has had a positive response.  The children and young 
people had a fun day during the summer and provided feedback to Corporate 
Parents on issues that are important to them.  These issues may also be 
considered for the challenge cards when the Councils meet again in the 
autumn.

3. Recommendations

3.1 Recommendation:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE the progress made on challenges made by our young people and ATTEND 
the charity fundraiser 'Virtual Triathlon to Calais' on Thursday 26 October 2017.

4. Background Documents

None

5. Report Author
Gemma O’Grady
Participation Co-ordinator, Virtual School Kent
07912 596646
gemma.o’grady@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 18

mailto:tony.doran@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 18 September 2017

Subject: Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member 

Classification: Unrestricted

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:-

1. Post-Ofsted Practice Delivery Plan
2. Report on celebration events
3. KCC personnel changes
4. UASC latest status

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education 

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 18 September 2017

Subject: UPDATE ON MIND OF MY OWN APP FOR CHILDREN 
AND YOUNG PEOPLE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:  This report provides Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel with an 
overview of the delivery and implementation of Mind of My Own across Specialist 
Children’s Services, including Disabled Children’s Services, in Kent.

Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
the progress on the roll-out of Mind of My Own countywide.

1. Background

1.1 The MOMO (Mind of My Own) App has been used by more than 50 local 
authorities as part of their offer in capturing the wishes and feelings of children 
and young people and it has been recognised by Ofsted as a positive 
communication tool for young people.  It is a secure App that can be used on 
most mobile phones, tablets and laptops that allows children and young people 
aged around 8-21 years of age to:

 raise a problem
 make a change
 have their say in a meeting
 feedback on their last meeting

1.2 It is a quick and easy way for young people to have their voices heard, either 
independently or with the help of their Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO), 
social worker, parent/carer or other trusted person.  Children and young people 
will be able to use the App to complete a ‘feedback statement’.

1.3 The feedback will be sought as part of the social work with the child or young 
person; for a looked after child this can include thoughts about their care plan, 
preparation for the child in care review meeting or to provide feedback on their 
placement.  Children and young people are able to report if they feel unsafe or 
unhappy.  It is an additional safeguard for looked after children living away from 
their families.

1.4 When a feedback statement is finalised, a pdf document is then automatically 
produced by MOMO and sent to a bespoke mailbox within Specialist Children’s 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



Services (SCS) and a copy of the document is placed onto the child’s file on 
Liberi (the SCS management information data base).  Information will be 
screened for safeguarding issues by business support trained to identify when a 
social worker needs to be notified of a safeguarding concern.

1.5 MOMO was successfully piloted in North Kent between February and October 
2016 with a cohort of looked after children and positive feedback was received 
from 79 children and young people.  Young people reported that they felt able to 
use it to discuss their worries about placement and that MOMO is an effective 
safeguarding tool. 

1.6 In January 2017, MOMO released a new App called MOMO Express.  MOMO 
Express is an App for young people with disabilities and younger children. It 
uses expressive pictures, minimal text and affirming sounds that can all be 
tailored to the individual young person’s needs.  It can be used for education, 
health or social care planning or review process, including Education Health 
Care Plans (EHCP), and facilitates the participation of young people.  The App 
was co-designed with young people with disabilities and is the only product on 
the market of its kind.  Disabled Children’s Services (DCS) took the decision to 
roll out MOMO Express across the service during 2017.

1.7 In order for this service to be made available to all Kent looked after children, a 
contract has been procured with MOMO to deliver it across the county.  There 
has been significant planning to ensure that social workers and IROs are able to 
use the application and have the appropriate IT infrastructure to enable its use 
with children and young people.  The roll-out of the MOMO App is also being 
coordinated alongside the roll-out of mobile working which will enable social 
workers to use tablets to facilitate direct work with children in gaining their views 
and showing them how to feedback on their care experiences.

1.8 Further detail on MOMO can be found at http://mindofmyown.org.uk/ and a 
demo version of MOMO One can be found at https://one-
demo.mindofmyown.org.uk/#/ . 

2. Roll-out Plan Update

2.1 Training of Frontline Staff

2.1.1 There are four dedicated training dates throughout September and October 
2017 and the training will be delivered jointly by trainers from MOMO and the 
Virtual School Kent (VSK) participation team.  The plan is for 240 SCS and DCS 
staff to be trained to use MOMO with children and young people; this is 
approximately a third of all frontline staff.  The train-the-trainers model is 
considered the most cost effective way of delivering training to all relevant staff 
and therefore those staff who have received the training will cascade it locally to 
the other social workers in their teams.  MOMO offer a package of continuous 
email inductions to help embed use of the App as part of everyday practice and 
also offer email and telephone support to anyone requiring additional 
assistance.

Page 22

http://mindofmyown.org.uk/
https://one-demo.mindofmyown.org.uk/#/
https://one-demo.mindofmyown.org.uk/#/


2.2 IT Requirements

2.2.1 Tablets are being purchased for frontline staff in the children in care and 
children’s social work teams as well as iPhones at the same time as staff are 
being trained to use MOMO.  This equipment will be compatible with MOMO 
and will greatly assist in the accessibility of the App to both professionals and 
children and young people.

2.3 Business Support

2.3.1 Business support staff are also being trained to review statements received 
through the MOMO App so they can screen for any safeguarding issues that 
might arise and escalate accordingly.

2.4 Data Collection and Collation

2.4.1 The MOMO Service Dashboard provides information on the use of the App by 
young people.  Information that can be produced includes the number of young 
people who have registered to use the App; the number of statements that have 
been created and for what meeting e.g. child in care review, or placement 
planning or a Personal Education Plan (PEP) meeting and will also provide 
information on the child and their wishes and feelings.

2.4.2 The SCS Management Information Unit is looking at the incorporation of the 
MOMO Dashboard data into a revised reporting plan so that participation 
feedback is captured and reported.  This will see regular, meaningful data being 
available to assist in planning services in response to children and young 
people’s needs.

2.5 Promotion of MOMO

2.5.1 The introduction of MOMO across the county will be reviewed and discussed at 
the October 2017 Children in Care Council (CICC) meetings (both the Super 
Council and the Older Children, Young People Council) and at the Young Adults 
Council (YAC) meeting in November 2017.  Regular feedback will be sought 
from the CICC meetings going forward.  Information about MOMO will also be 
included in the autumn CIC newsletters that are sent to children and young 
people via their foster carers.  Foster carers will be informed of MOMO via letter 
and the VSK apprentice participation workers will be raising this when attending 
Foster Carer Support Groups.  Foster carers have access to the CIC 
newsletters which are produced three times a year.  Professionals will be 
asked, as part of their training, to promote the awareness of MOMO to wider 
partners supporting children and young people encouraging them to view the 
two web-links that provide an overview of MOMO as well as an opportunity to 
utilise the demo version to gain insight of how the App works from the young 
person’s perspective.

Page 23



3. Moving Forward, Post Roll-out

3.1 Once all training of professionals has been completed, MOMO is expected to 
become ‘business as usual’ in Kent and form part of the social workers’ ‘toolkit’ 
to encourage participation and capture the voice of the child. 

4. Recommendations

4.1 Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE the progress on the roll-out of Mind of My Own countywide.

5. Background Documents

None

6. Report Author
Gemma O’Grady
Participation Co-ordinator, Virtual School Kent 
07912 596646
gemma.o’grady@kent.gov.uk

Lead Officer
Naintara Khosla
Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting
03000 413865
Naintara.khosla@kent.gov.uk

Relevant Director
Philip Segurola
Director of Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 24

mailto:tony.doran@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Naintara.khosla@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 18 September 2017

Subject: PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR CHILDREN IN CARE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: The performance scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored in order to promote the best 
outcomes for children and young people looked after by Kent County Council.  The 
latest performance scorecard for June 2017 is attached to this report

Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care scorecard.

1. Introduction 

1.1 Performance scorecards have been developed within Specialist Children’s 
Services to identify and monitor progress on a range of areas where 
improvements in performance and practice will lead to better outcomes for 
children and young people.

1.2 The latest Children in Care Scorecard for June 2017 is attached as Appendix 
1.

2. Context

2.1 The Children in Care Scorecard has been developed to provide the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with an overview of the key performance measures for 
Children in Care. 

2.2 The report is split into sections and includes a range of performance indicators 
and activity information. 

2.4 The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided by 
Specialist Children’s Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared so that performance issues can be further 
understood across organisations resulting in improved outcomes for children 
and young people.

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



3. Recommendations

3.1 Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care scorecard.

4. Background documents

None

5. Contact details

Lead Officer
Maureen Robinson
Management Information Service Manager
03000 417164
Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 26

mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


Publication Date: 20 July 2017

SC SCS Management Information

Kent Specialist Children's Services

Children in Care
Performance Report

Produced by

Jun 2017

Page 27



Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set.

An amber rating indicates that the current performance is close to the target set.

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Becoming Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independent Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug) M Monthly Figure

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 

reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

Key To Abbreviations

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 

or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last month.

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and/or analysis as a one off 

please log a request through the SCS Performance Management site:

Some of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 

the end of the current month. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 

caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating
RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators.  Also, if the denominator is lower than 5 no 

RAG rating has been applied.

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 04/08/2017 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2017 Page 2 of 11

Page 28

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


% of CIC Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 98.9% G 1,728 1,747 98% 99.0% G 99.1% G
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H R12M 96.1% G 4,949 5,150 95% 95.9% G 98.1% G
% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 months H SS 45.5% A 540 1,186 60% 45.7% A 52.9% A
CIC Placement stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 11.9% A 215 1,801 10% 12.1% A 11.9% A 10% *
CIC Placement stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 68.2% A 373 547 70% 66.8% A 68.1% A 68% *
% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (exc UASC) H SS 86.1% G 975 1,132 85% 86.5% G 86.1% G
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (exc UASC) H SS 80.1% G 1,078 1,345 80% 80.3% G 80.1% G 87% *

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 (exc UASC) SS 42.3 1,398   330,400 43.0 42.3 57 **

Number of Kent CIC SS 1,801 1,847 1,398

Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1,303 1,333

% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the IRO for the last 12 months H SS 68.7% 815 1,186 68.7% 73.3%

% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 10.8% 21 194 10.3% 12.2%

% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 2.8% 51 1,801 2.7% 3.2%

% in P&V placements L SS 4.6% 82 1,801 4.4% 5.9%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (exc Medway) SS 7.6% 137        1,801 7.7% 5.5%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (inc Medway) L SS 14.5% 262 1,801 14.7% 10.7%

No. of current CIC with a permanent exclusion this academic year L AC YTD 1 2 1

No. on a part-time timetable L SS 30 21 29

% of CIC for at least 12mths and aged 16-18 at month end with Education Status of NEET L SS 13.3% 73 548 12.2% 15.0%

% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement or Support/EHCP L SS 38.0% 529 1,392 37.5% 49.5%

% of IHA referrals within 5 working days of becoming looked after H R12M 85.6% A 409 478 90% 85.8% G 85.4% A
% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H R12M 68.2% R 346 507 90% 67.8% R 68.9% R
% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 83.8% R 1,391 1,660 90% 86.1% A 89.1% A 90% **
% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 88.6% A 1,470 1,660 90% 88.8% A 89.0% A 84% **
% of CIC aged at least 17.5 with a health history completed H SS 11.1% R 22 199 90% 0.0% R 12.5% R

SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April (for Current LAC) L YTD 14.8 1,568 106 12.4 15.2

% of cases adoption agreed as plan within 4 mths, for those with an agency decision H R12M 62.8% R 71 113 80% 63.2% R - -
Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L R12M 354.4 G 33,311 94 426.0 364.4 G - - 593 **
Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L R12M 121.9 A 10,971 90 121.0 122.6 A - - 223 **
% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc UASC) H R12M 15.3% G 94 615 15.0% 14.8% A 15.3% G 15% **

% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H R12M 84.1% 95 113 85.5% - -

% of sibling groups that were placed together (where the plan was to place them together) H R12M 88.9% 32 36 88.9% - -

% of CIC with a current Agency Decision, not Placed for Adoption L SS 3.4% 62 1,801 3.4% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H R12M 4.2% 55 1,313 4.2% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H R12M 8.8% 54 615 8.8% - -

% of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC H R12M 75.3% A 737 979 85% 77.1% A - -

Number CIC with Missing Episode started in the month L M 90 77 81

Number of CIC missing episodes started in the month lasting longer than 48 hours H M 26 20 23

Complaints made by CIC (or on their behalf) during the month L M 7 8

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 93.8% G 1,259 1,342 90% 94.1% G 92.6% G 93% **
Care Leavers in employment, education or training (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 64.2% A 861 1,342 65% 63.1% A 49.5% R 56% **
% of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the last 6 months H R12M 92.5% G 1,253 1,354 90% 93.7% G 92.0% G
% of Care Leavers we are in contact with (inc UASC) H R12M 85.0% G 1,328 1,562 85% 86.1% G 87% **

Percentage of Current Care Leavers with a Staying Put Arrangement H SS 4.7% 67 1,419 5.1% 7.6%

% of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW (exc Fostering & Adoption) H SS 80.3% A 92.2 114.9 83% 81.4% A - -
Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 16.7 A 1,719 103.0 15.0 15.7 A - -
Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 61.1 G 1,801 29.5 70.0 62.6 G 50.8 G

* indicates national figures from 2014/15

** indicates national figures from 2015/16

Complaints

Scorecard

Indicator

P
o

la
ri

ty Data 

Period

Latest Result and 

RAG Status
Num Denom

Target for 

17-18

Last month's result

and RAG Status

N
at

io
n

al
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

(E
n

gl
an

d
 R

at
e)

Excluding UASC

Jun 2017

Children

Education

Health & Wellbeing

Adoption

Care Leavers

Staffing

Missing Children

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 04/08/2017 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2017 Page 3 of 11

Page 29



Age Female Male Grand Total Disability Female Male Grand Total

0 29 27 56 Autism or Asperger's syndrome 15 41 56

1 25 16 41 Behaviour 6 33 39

2 18 16 34 Communication 6 16 22

3 11 16 27 Consciousness 8 7 15

4 8 16 24 Hand Function 1 1

5 11 20 31 Hearing 3 9 12

6 9 22 31 Incontinence 3 7 10

7 24 24 48 Learning 27 47 74

8 27 38 65 Mobility 10 11 21

9 36 41 77 Personal Care 2 7 9

10 30 52 82 Vision 4 9 13

11 46 48 94 Other DDA 6 13 19

12 34 66 100 None 583 1047 1630

13 50 68 118

14 61 81 142

15 63 118 181 UASC? Female Male Grand Total

16 68 177 245 Yes 14 389 403

17 88 317 405 No 624 774 1398

Grand Total 638 1163 1801 Grand Total 638 1163 1801

Nationality Female Male Grand Total Ethnicity Female Male Grand Total

Afghanistani 138 138 A1 - White British 539 661 1200

Albanian 18 18 A2 - White Irish 3 3 6

Bangladeshi 1 3 4 A3 - Any other White background 20 46 66

Belgian 1 1 A4 - Traveller of Irish Heritage 2 2

Brazilian 1 1 A5 - Gypsy/Roma 4 10 14

British 592 730 1322 B1 - White and Black Caribbean 12 21 33

Congolese 1 1 B2 - White and Black African 5 10 15

Czech 2 2 B3 - White and Asian 5 5 10

Egyptian 14 14 B4 - Any other mixed background 21 11 32

Eritrean 6 105 111 C1 - Indian 4 4

Ethiopian 1 10 11 C2 - Pakistani 1 1 2

German 1 1 C3 - Bangladeshi 1 1 2

Guinean 2 2 C4 - Any other Asian background 4 35 39

Indian 1 1 D1 - Caribbean 1 1

Iranian 21 21 D2 - African 14 140 154

Iraqi 24 24 D3 - Any other Black background 1 2 3

Irish 2 4 6 E1 - Chinese 1 1

Italian 1 1 E2 - Any other ethnic group 5 212 217

Ivorian 1 1 Grand Total 638 1163 1801

Jamaican 1 1

Kuwaiti 2 2

Latvian 4 1 5

Lithuanian 1 5 6

Moroccan 1 1

Nepalese 3 3

Nigerian 3 3

Not Recorded 7 6 13

Pakistani 1 1 2

Palestinian 1 1

Polish 2 2

Portugese 1 1

Slovak 4 11 15

Slovenian 3 4 7

Sri Lankan 4 1 5

Sudanese 14 14

Syrian 1 20 21

Turkish 1 1

Vietnamese 5 13 18

Grand Total 638 1163 1801

Demographic Breakdown for Kent LAC as at 30/06/2017

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 04/08/2017 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2017 Page 4 of 11

Page 30



Referrals

Trend Graphs

* Data between Sep 2013 and Mar 2014 is not available as reporting was suspended due to the implementation of a new system.

** An exercise was undertaken to re-open closed cases with care leaver status in 2016 reporting year, therefore, these figures do show an increase

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

1,200

1,250

1,300

1,350

Jun
12

Sep
12

Dec
12

Mar
13

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

Jun
17

OLA LAC in Kent over the last 5 years 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

Jun
12

Sep
12

Dec
12

Mar
13

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

Jun
17

% of CIC with 3+ placements in 12 months over the last 
5 years* 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Jun
12

Sep
12

Dec
12

Mar
13

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

Jun
17

LAC over the last 5 years UASC

Citizen

920

940

960

980

1,000

1,020

1,040

1,060

1,080

1,100

1,120

Jun
12

Sep
12

Dec
12

Mar
13

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

Jun
17

LAC placed in KCC Foster Care over the last 5 years 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Jul
14

Sep
14

Nov
14

Jan
15

Mar
15

May
15

Jul
15

Sep
15

Nov
15

Jan
16

Mar
16

May
16

Jul
16

Sep
16

Nov
16

Jan
17

Mar
17

May
17

CIC Placed Outside Kent (exc Medway) 
over the last 3 years 

UASC

Citizen

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Jul
14

Sep
14

Nov
14

Jan
15

Mar
15

May
15

Jul
15

Sep
15

Nov
15

Jan
16

Mar
16

May
16

Jul
16

Sep
16

Nov
16

Jan
17

Mar
17

May
17

% Leaving Care over the last 3 years 
SGO

Adoption

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Care Leavers** 
UASC

Citizen

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Jul
14

Sep
14

Nov
14

Jan
15

Mar
15

May
15

Jul
15

Sep
15

Nov
15

Jan
16

Mar
16

May
16

Jul
16

Sep
16

Nov
16

Jan
17

Mar
17

May
17

CIC Placed Outside Kent (inc Medway) 
over the last 3 years 

UASC

Citizen

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 04/08/2017 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2017 Page 5 of 11

Page 31



Kent SE SN England

Reading 41.0% 41.0% 38.1% 41.0% 3rd

Writing 49.0% 46.0% 42.1% 46.0% 2nd

Maths 42.0% 37.0% 28.2% 41.0% 3rd

RWM 23.0% 24.0% 25.0% 25.0% 4th

20.0% 16.4% 15.6% 17.5% 2nd

21.4 21.8 23.29 22.8 3rd

-1.16 -1.14 -1.11 -1.14 3rd

15.2% 12.4% 11.7% 10.4% 4th

9.3% 10.3% 9.4% 9.1% 2nd

Key:
GLD  Good level of development SN Statistical Neighbours

RWM  Reading, Writing and Maths SE  South East Region

% of Children who have been continuously looked after for 12 months with at least 1 fixed term 

exclusion from school

% of children looked after who are classed as persistent absentees

Key Stage 4

% A*- C in English & Maths

Attainment 8

Progress 8

Key Stage 2 % at least expected standard

Education Data

Key Stage Measure

Performance

Quartile

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 04/08/2017 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2017 Page 6 of 11

Page 32



Data source: VSK. Figures shown are number of children

Multiple Attendance Factors May 2017 Multiple Attendance Factors June 2017

LAC on RTT with Multiple Factors May 2017 LAC on RTT with Multiple Factors June 2017

Cohort 21 Cohort 30

Key: 
CSE  Child Sexual Exploitation PA  Persisent Absence RTT  Reduced Timetable
Exclusions figures include children with temporary suspensions

Education Factors for Kent LAC as at 30/06/2017 and comparison with previous month

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 04/08/2017 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2017 Page 7 of 11

Page 33



Definition

Jul 16 Aug 16 Sep 16 Oct 16 Nov 16 Dec 16 Jan 17 Feb 17 Mar 17 Apr 17 May 17 Jun 17 Ave

+17.9% +15.0% +12.9% +13.2% +7.5% +8.3% +6.8% +4.6% +3.6% +1.8% +0.5% +0.6% +7.7%

This is an improving indicator.  There are robust partnerships in place between Health and SCS to deliver and ensure 

there is ongoing scrutiny of the timeliness and capacity for initial health assessments.  This partnership is delivering 

improvements to the completion of the health assessments.  Both agencies are aware this focus and scrutiny needs 

to continue so this indicator moves to a 90% completion rate.

Commentary

Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 

and inc. UASC

Number of children whose Initial Health Assessment took place more than 20 working days after their period of care started 

by age and legal status

% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days

Theme Health & Wellbeing

PID Reference

Current RAG Red - 68.2%

Of the Children in Care who became looked after and therefore whose Initial Health Assessment was 

due in the period, the percentage of those whose Initial Health Assessment took place within 20 

working days of the date they became looked after.

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

4 2 

42 
38 

42 

14 

15 

4 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

In Care Accommodated

150 

71 67 58 

41 

13 31 
18 

5 

3 

26 

24 

0

50

100

150

200

250

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

No Date Recorded Outside Timescale Within Timescale

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 04/08/2017 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2017 Page 8 of 11

Page 34



Definition

Jul 16 Aug 16 Sep 16 Oct 16 Nov 16 Dec 16 Jan 17 Feb 17 Mar 17 Apr 17 May 17 Jun 17 Ave

+5.4% +4.2% +4.0% +4.4% +3.9% +3.2% +2.7% +2.6% +3.2% +3.9% +4.3% +5.3% +3.9%

Number of children who have not had their health assessment within timescale

This performance measure includes a combination of Initial Health Assessments which need to be undertaken within 28 days of a child/young person coming into 

care, and Review Health Assessments which need to be undertaken as a minimum of every 12 months (every 6 months for those under the age of 5).

Performance against this indicator is impacted by the numbers of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC), particularly those that are long term missing 

and therefore are not available to undertake their Health Assessments.  Overall performance excluding UASC for June 2017 was 89.1%, just short of the 90% 

Target.  

In order to ensure that the demand and timescales for health assessments are met information on forthcoming and overdue health assessments is being regularly 

shared with NHS staff.  The Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting is liasing directly with key contacts for Looked After Children within the NHS to ensure that 

these are escalated appropriately and that future demand is being planned for. The Lead CCG Commissioner has approved an increase in resource and is 

monitoring performance with the health provider.

This indicator shows the percentage of Kent Children in Care who have been looked after for at least 

12 months at the end of the reporting period and had their annual health assessment.

Commentary

% of Health assessments held within required timescale

Theme Health & Wellbeing

5 Year trend graph (Jul 12 - Jun 17) Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 

and inc. UASC

PID Reference

Current RAG Red - 83.8%

K20

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

13 10 

61 

155 
3 

27 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs 16+ Yrs

Children Currently Missing Kent (exc. Missing)

UASC LAC 
129 
48% 

Citizen LAC 
140 
52% 

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 04/08/2017 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2017 Page 9 of 11

Page 35



Definition

PID Reference

Current RAG Red - 11.1%

Of the looked after children aged between 17.5 and 18 at the month end, the percentage of those 

who have a Health History Completed on Liberi

% of CIC aged at least 17.5 with a health history completed

Theme Health & Wellbeing

The collation of data to measure the completion of health histories is a new measure and will slowly reflect an 

increasing trend.  Health and Children and Young People's Services work together to ensure this new system of 

measuring health history completion is implemented.

The CCG Accountable Officer Group has been appraised of the legacy of poor compliance in this area to ensure that 

the health provider prioritises this area of work.

Last 12 months

Number of children aged 17.5 and 18 as at month end without Health History Recorded

Commentary

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent inc UASC Kent exc UASC

89 

41 

4 

43 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

UASC LAC Citizen LAC

Female Male

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 04/08/2017 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2017 Page 10 of 11

Page 36



Definition

The definition for this measure requires Adoption to be the sole plan at the 2nd Review, which is a maximum of four 

months after a child becomes ‘Looked After’ by the Local Authority.   Some children will however have had more 

than 2 reviews within this timescale.  For a number of children alternative plans were still being considered at the 

second review and this will be the correct course of action for these children as reunification to parents or extended 

family options will be being considered.

For 42 children over the rolling 12 month period a decision on Adoption as the plan for permance was not agreed by 

four months of them coming into care.  For 14 of these children the decision was in the fourth month, so just 

outside of the timescale.  Timeliness of decision making in the adoption process is closely tracked by the Adoption 

Service who will escalate any concerns to the relevent Service Manager.

Commentary

Number of children where adoption wasn't agreed as the plan within 4 months by how many months it took for to be agreed

5 Year trend graph (Jul 12 - Jun 17) Last 12 months

Number of children where adoption wasn't agreed as the plan within 4 months by age and gender

% of cases where Adoption was agreed as the plan within 4 months (Children 

with an Agency Decision)

Theme Adoption

PID Reference A01

Current RAG Red - 65.3%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

4th  month 
14 

33% 

5th month 
9 

22% 6th month 
7 

17% 

7th month 
1 

2% 

8+ months 
11 

26% 

8 
5 5 

2 
5 

2 

9 

4 
1 

1 

0

5

10

15

20

0 1 2 3 4 5

Female Male

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 04/08/2017 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2017 Page 11 of 11

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director for Social Care, Health & 
Wellbeing 

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 18 September 2017

Subject: PLACEMENT STABILITY - THE SENSE OF BELONGING 
SERVICE 

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: The Kent Fostering Service previously presented the Sense of Belonging 
project to the Corporate Parenting Panel on 20 March 2017.  The project is part of 
the Fostering Business Plan for 2017-2018.  This report outlines the progress over 
the last five months and work plan for the improvement of placement stability. 

Recommendation:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER and COMMENT on progress made over the last five months and the 
work plan for the improvement of placement stability.
 

1. Introduction

1.1 Kent Fostering offer the Council’s foster carers the Sense of Belonging Service 
to create and support increased placement stability.  The main aim of the 
service is to provide additional support to foster carers, children and young 
people where there are additional pressures and higher risk of a placement 
breakdown.  There are three separate components to the project which is 
accessed based on the following criteria: 

 Children/young people who have had three plus placement moves in 
the past 12 months

 Children/young people out of education or excluded from school
 Children/young people on a part-time timetable
 Children/young people at risk of missing/Child Sexual Exploitation 

(CSE)
 Placements assessed at risk of breakdown where the package is 

identified as a support to maintain the placement at the stability core 
group

 Those children with complex needs can be provide with Sense of 
Belonging service as an offer of support within the referral and 
matching, particularly for children where there have been numerous 
placement disruptions, including disruptions from Independent 
Fostering Agencies (IFA).

Page 39

Agenda Item 9



2. Background

2.1 Sense of Belonging - Part 1 

2.1.1 Part 1 is a three month package of support, utilising the Council’s outdoor 
activity centres, Bewl Water and the Swattenden Centre, offering day activities 
and overnight residential weekends.  These are staffed by trained instructors 
from the centres and supported by youth workers through joint working with 
Early Help, to provide additional supervision and pastoral care, including 
overnight support, to the children.

2.1.2 The first pilot ran from January – April 2017, for a group of ten children from 
across the county aged between 8-14 years.  Key learning from the first 
programme of support was provided through feedback from the children and 
foster carers. This has been used to plan the next 12 months of activities, with 
the most recent programme being held in July 2017.  The July programme 
allowed for 12 children aged 8-12 years to receive a package of support during 
the school holiday period. 

2.1.3 This part of the Sense of Belonging Service is funded jointly by Kent Fostering 
and Virtual School Kent (VSK) using pupil premium, with the aim to support 
young people back into full time education by building their self-esteem and 
confidence, whilst also giving their foster carers a respite. Having a programme 
of planned activities, gives children something to look forward to and carers a 
much needed break from managing some of the more complex behaviours. 

2.2 Summary of Feedback from Children and Foster Carers

“My child’s behaviour improved from being with a new peer group and from 
having male staff as positive role models” (single female carer)

“Our young person talked non-stop about the fun he had and asked when 
he could go again. He had a great time despite his nerves and rated the day 
' 10/10”

“I just wanted to pass on some feedback from the weekend the children 
had. I have a child that rarely expresses any feelings of happiness or fun. 
He is a lad that seems to carry the worries of the world on his shoulders, 
and sadly, doesn't like to let any good feelings into his life. After his 
weekend at Swattenden, he came back like a different boy! He was 
exhausted, filthy and happy....3 things a child should be! He couldn't stop 
talking...about his new friends, the things he'd done, the experiences he'd 
had, the food he'd eaten etc. He usually passes on a few details but rarely 
remembers many of the finer details. He seemed to remember so much of 
the weekend...it's been great! He struggles to tell wholly the truth and I'm 
guessing the lads didn't really go mountain climbing and banger racing!! But 
I'm surprised at how much he has remembered and I'm guessing the reason 
for that is how much he got out of the whole experience.”

Page 40



“He struggles to maintain friendships but often talks fondly of the other lads 
from that weekend. He said how the older boys helped the younger ones on 
several occasions and how he went to one of the older boys to help him on 
the night hike cos he was a bit scared. He had a great time playing on the 
piano and one of the older boys could actually play and taught him a 
tune...he is still so happy about this and it has now prompted me to buy a 
small organ for him to play on. It may seem a small thing to most but for me 
to hear him talk fondly of other children, and for him to feel like that, it is 
huge. He told the Head of Fostering “I have never had a friend, but on this 
weekend I was the same as everyone else, for once I wasn’t different and I 
made a friend”

“We went to a recent bowling event run by the Kent Foster Carers 
Association and bumped into a few of his Swattenden friends. He was so 
happy! It was great to see a connection. He can't explain why he feels 
connected to the boys but I have witnessed that there is definitely some 
connection. And that will only get stronger as they have more weekends 
together.”

“From another angle, and for selfish reasons, I have loved him going to 
Swattenden because it has given me some time for me...a rarity as a foster 
carer, especially as I am doing it alone. I stayed in bed on the Sunday after 
6 am ...what a treat! As with most children in care, it is 'full on' and he can't 
be left for a moment so to have the weekend to do whatever I wanted was a 
real treat and a great chance to recharge my batteries . Thank you!!”

“I can't thank the people that organised this package enough, or the people 
that run it. I can only imagine how much hard work it all is. What I do know 
is how much he has benefited in so many ways (& me, if I'm honest!). Long 
may Swattenden continue!  Thank you to everyone involved.”

2.3 Key Learning

2.3.1 Both the children and staff gave feedback that the age range was too wide, with 
the older teenagers not wanting to be in groups with younger children.  Staff felt 
that having primary and secondary school aged groups starting at aged eight 
upwards would ensure children made friendships within their community which 
could be continued after the ending of the initial project.  Linking the children 
and young people to their local Youth Hubs was introduced to facilitate this and 
provide ongoing support to the placement.  The next 12 months of activities 
have been planned based on the feedback, as detailed in Appendix One. 

2.3.2 One of the first children to access the outdoor activities was on notice from their 
in house foster placement, which would have meant their fourth move in care.  
The provision of this service made such a significant impact upon them and 
their foster carer that the carer withdrew the notice for them to move and they 
remain with the foster carer.  Prior to accessing the project, they had refused all 
efforts to engage them in any physical or outdoor activities or being with their 
peer group, they would regularly be up in the night and exhibiting very 
challenging behaviours.  The Sense of Belonging provided them with the 

Page 41



opportunity to make friends, learn to ride a bike, try activities in a safe 
environment that built their confidence and increase their self-esteem.  The 
foster carer had the opportunity to have a break and felt better equipped to 
manage.  Whilst this is just one example of the positive outcomes for children 
and foster carers, it is significant evidence of the successful outcomes that the 
project can achieve. 

3. Sense of Belonging Part 2 

3.1 The provision of dedicated foster carer hub families who can provide a regular 
family based support package is based on research from the Mockingbird 
Project and Kent’s pilot in East Kent of the 4x4 model/Adolescent Wrap around 
Project.  Kent Fostering aim to recruit 5 fostering families as the “dedicated 
family hub” to cover seven areas of Kent.  These foster families will work 
intensively with three to four fostering households to provide care for three to 
four children or young people.  The aim is to create a “hub family” who become 
akin to extended family members for the child, offering them stability and care 
when the main foster carer needs a break or at times of placement instability.

3.2 The recruitment of these families is now being progressed through the Foster 
Carers Advisory Board, Kent Foster Carers Association and KCC’s Foster Carer 
Ambassadors.  Recruitment to this part of the Sense of Belonging project has 
been a challenge due to the national and local shortage of foster carers; in 
some areas of Kent all in-house vacancies are being used to full capacity. 
There will be a planned recruitment campaign in October 2017 to recruit new 
foster carers to become hub families.  

4. Sense of Belonging Part 3 – A New Service Model for Therapeutic Support

4.1 The current Therapeutic Re-Parenting (TRP) service ended in July 2017, with 
no new referrals for children being taken.  The funding for TRP has been used 
to commission a different, county-wide service that will provide increased 
resource to carers.  The successful provider and partner agency is the Anna 
Freud Centre London.  The commissioned service will provide clinical 
psychology input to the in-house fostering teams, foster carers and 
children/young people and a new Clinical Psychologist is in post.

4.2 The overarching aims of Part 3 of the Sense of Belonging service are:
 To provide clinical psychology support to children in care at times of 

crisis and placement instability.  The service provision is for 170 
referrals for children per year

 Intervene at the earliest possible stage, in the most appropriate manner 
to prevent the escalation of behaviour and support the emotional and/or 
mental health needs of children and young people

 To support the remaining children and foster carers on the TRP 
scheme, by facilitating network meetings and support groups for the 
period August 2017–March 2018.  This is our commitment, to ensure 
clinical psychology support to complete the two year placement and 
secure permanency for the five remaining children

Page 42



 A training programme to support intervention with children who 
experience trauma along with practical methods of intervention is being 
developed for delivery to fostering staff and foster carers 

 To effect improved joint working arrangements with providers of 
emotional wellbeing and mental health services for children and young 
people.

4.3 The commissioning for this service has been completed in partnership with 
foster carers and young people who were involved in all aspects of the 
commissioning process including selection of the provider and design of the 
future service.  In the recent Ofsted inspection, the inspectors reported “the 
Sense of Belonging project, outdoor activity days and residential courses 
provide more targeted support for carers and children.”

5. Work Plan for Placement Stability

5.1 Alongside the Sense of Belonging Service, significant changes have been made 
within the work plan to improve the permanency care planning for children in 
line with The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review Regulations (updated 
2015). Social workers undertake mandatory online training on Care Planning 
and a focus has been to ensure early permanency planning meetings are held 
to plan a child’s journey into care or at the point of entry into care.  The 
permanency planning procedures have been updated to reflect that early care 
planning provides increased placement stability.  Recruitment of foster carers 
has been updated to ensure robust assessment and recruitment of carers who 
can offer permanent homes with a commitment to providing Staying Put for 
young people into adulthood. 

5.2 A new referral form that includes delegated authority, matching, a risk 
assessment and placement planning arrangements all within one document 
was implemented in July 2017.  This provides a much clearer format and focus 
for social workers and the sharing of information with foster carers at an earlier 
stage.  The use of the in-house emergency beds has been reviewed, to 
increase the availability of their use for Out of Hours placements.  The focus on 
social work practice to improve placement stability has impacted on the 
performance target for the numbers of children who experience 3+ or more 
placement moves.  Prior to March 2017 this was a deteriorating picture but 
since March 2017 the target has improved from 12.6% to 11.9% in June 2017.  
Whilst this improvement is gradual, it reflects the impact upon the first cohort of 
children accessing the Sense of Belonging project and the link to the 
improvement in their stability within the fostering household and their education. 

5.3 There is a direct link between the provision of the outdoor activities that provide 
carers a regular break and the stability of the placement.  Six out of the ten 
children remain with their original foster carers with plans for permanency.  At 
the point of referral, four of the children were already on notice to move from 
their carers and the scheme was identified as part of the package of support 
offered to the new placement; this additional support meant all of the children 
were secured in-house foster placements.  There have been no further 
placement moves for any of the ten children since accessing the scheme.  

Page 43



There is a clear link to the impact upon placement stability and their education 
provision, with more immediate support being needed at times of crisis.  Overall 
there has been a reduction for the ten children in temporary exclusions from 
their schools; only three of the ten have experienced a temporary exclusion 
since being part of the project.  From September 2017, with the implementation 
of Part Three of the Sense of Belonging, there would be clinical psychology 
crisis support identified at the point of exclusion, to provide immediate 
intervention for the child and foster carers. 

5.4 The link to placement stability and children on part time timetables is detailed in 
Appendix 2 and this data will be used to identify children for the next cohort to 
access the Sense of Belonging Activity days.  The aim will be to build on the 
success of the scheme and its link to the improvement in placement stability in 
order to target those children most vulnerable within their education.  Virtual 
School Kent (VSK) will identify these children within the Personal Education 
Plan (PEP) process and be able to refer children directly to the Sense of 
Belonging Project. 

6. Conclusion

6.1 Each part of the Sense of Belonging project will be evaluated quarterly, as part 
of the Fostering Business Plan.  The Head of Fostering meets with all the 
children and foster carers referred for the outdoor activity centres to ensure they 
understand the scheme and have the opportunity to give feedback.  This will 
enable the project to further develop and improve, maximising the positive 
outcomes for our children and foster carers. It is recognised that the outdoor 
environment is not the first choice of activity for all children/young people and in 
these circumstances, the other two parts of the service will offer appropriate 
alternative resources.  The priority for the next quarter will be the recruitment of 
the hub families and the launching of the clinical psychology support at times of 
crisis. 

7. Recommendation

7.1 Recommendation:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER and COMMENT on progress made over the last five months and the 
work plan for the improvement of placement stability.

8. Background Documents 
The Mockingbird Society developed the model in USA
http://www.mockingbirdsociety.org/index.php/what-we-do/mockingbird-family-model

9. Report Author
Caroline Smith – Head of Fostering
03000 415091
Caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk

Page 44

http://www.mockingbirdsociety.org/index.php/what-we-do/mockingbird-family-model
mailto:Caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk


Lead Officer
Naintara Khosla – Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
03000 422241
Naintara.Khosla@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola - Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 45

mailto:Naintara.Khosla@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Activity Days
Kent Fostering Service, Sense of Belonging

Following on from the successful pilot, Kent Fostering and Adventure Kent are rolling out the 
Sense of Belonging Activity Programme to children and young people who have had a 
number of placement moves or are at risk of placement breakdown due to complex 
needs, being on a part time timetable, at risk of being excluded or missing from care.

The programme of events will provide carers with additional support and an opportunity to 
have a break.  Children and young people will have an opportunity to make new 
friends, try new activities and build self-esteem with the aim to improve placement 
stability and to become more settled at school.  Children and young people will be 
linked in with a youth worker following the programme of events.

Activity Break Programme

 Introduction meeting to be attended by children, foster carers and outreach staff
 Afternoon session at a Community Youth Hub Centre
 2 residential weekends, one at Bewl and one at Swattenden
 Celebration / thank you event attended by children / young people and fostering family

Planned Events

South / East Kent - for children / young people aged 8 -11 years,(introduction meeting at end 
of June) July and August 2017

North / West Kent for children / young people aged 12 - 16 years, October and November 
2017

East /South Kent for children and young people aged 12 - 16 years, January and February 
2018

West / North for children and young people aged 8 -11 years, May and June 2018

To register your interest please contact Mary Hilden. Mary.hilden@kent.gov.uk  03000 415044

Page 47

mailto:Mary.hilden@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  

SCS Performance Management Report 

   

 

  

 

3+ Placements and 

Reduced Timetables 

August 2017 

Page 49



 

 
   

P a g e  | 2 

Executive Summary 
 

 There were a relatively small number of children on a reduced timetable (RTT) in any month 

during the 2016/17 academic year.  In July 2017 there were 23 children on reduced 

timetables out of 1,121 children who were being monitored for attendance at the end of 

term (1.9%). 

 

 Over half the reduced timetable episodes lasted less than two months (55%, 45 out of 82 

episodes) 

 

 14 of the 82 episodes lasted 5 months or longer (17.1%) 

 The proportion of children on a reduced timetable tended to increase by school year group, 

i.e. the older the child the more likely they were to be on a reduced timetable 

 

 At the end of July, 217 looked after children had 3 or more placements in the last 12 months 

(12.2% of LAC).  For compulsory school aged children this reduced to 128 out of at total 

number of 1,174 looked after children (10.9%) 

 

 A lower proportion of primary school aged children had 3 or more placements (5.4%), than 

secondary school aged children (13.8%) 

 

 Children with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months were more likely to be on a 

reduced timetable than children with less than 3 placements.  39 out of 1,046 of children 

with less than 3 placements during year were recorded as being on a reduced timetable 

(3.7%), compared to 30 of 128 children with 3 or more placements (23.4%). 

 

 The proportion of children on reduced timetables increased with the number of placements 

a child had in the last 12 months 

 

 Children on a reduced timetable, and children with 3 or more placements in the year were 

more likely to have a fixed term exclusion 

 

  

Page 50



 

 
   

P a g e  | 3 

Contents 
Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................. 2 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 4 

2. Methodology ................................................................................................................................... 4 

3. Results ................................................................................................................................................. 5 

3.1 Overview of Reduced timetables during the academic year ........................................................ 5 

3.2 Overview of 3+ placements .......................................................................................................... 8 

3.3 Analysis of reduced timetables and 3+ placements ................................................................... 11 

3.4 Exclusions .................................................................................................................................... 13 

4. Equalities Analysis of reduced timetables ........................................................................................ 14 

5. Conclusions ....................................................................................................................................... 15 

6. Data Quality ...................................................................................................................................... 16 

 

  

Page 51



 

 
   

P a g e  | 4 

1. Introduction 
 

This report was produced at the request of Naintara Khosla, Assistant Director Corporate Parenting, 

and Caroline Smith, Head of Fostering.  The report aims to provide insight into looked after children 

on reduced timetables and identify whether there is a relationship between reduced timetables and 

multiple placements. 

2. Methodology 
 

The source of reduced timetable data was Virtual Schools Kent (VSK), and covered the period 

September 2016 to July 2017 (2016/17 academic year). 

The overview of children on reduced timetables includes all children notified as being on a reduced 

timetable. 

The analysis exploring the relationship between reduced timetables and multiple placements 

includes only children who were looked after as at the end of July 2017.  6 children were on a 

reduced timetable at some point during the academic year, but were not looked after as at 31 July 

2017, so they were not included in the analysis (but were included in the overview of reduced 

timetables section 3.1). 

The analysis also included only children who were of compulsory school age, which was defined as 

aged under 16 at the start of the current academic year and aged at least 5 years at the start of the 

last term. This included all children with a date of birth between 01/09/2000 and 31/03/2012.  1 

child from the VSK reduced timetable list was not included in the analysis because they were below 

compulsory school age (this child was included in the overview of reduced timetables section 3.1). 

There were 69 looked after children as at the end of July 2017 who had been on a reduced timetable 

at some point during the academic year. 

VSK provided SEN status from the ePEP system as at August 2017. Where this was not provided, the 

SEN status was sourced from Liberi. 

Welfare Call monitors the exclusions of Kent Looked after Children.  Only looked after children are 

monitored, therefore exclusions and reduced timetables during the academic year but outside a 

period of care are not included.  Welfare Call reported 3 children on permanent exclusions.  

However, upon validation against data from the Education Management Information Team and 

Liberi files only one of the reported exclusions was identified as permanent, with the other 2 fixed 

term. 

Children are not monitored by VSK after they leave care.  For the purposes of this report, the date of 

leaving care was taken as the reduced timetable end date where children were on a reduced 

timetable at the point of leaving care.  

Page 52



 

 
   

P a g e  | 5 

3. Results 

3.1 Overview of reduced timetables during the academic year 
 

During 2016/17 there were a relatively small number of children on a reduced timetable (RTT) in any 

month. 

 

An average of 26 children were on a reduced timetable during any month.  October had the lowest 

number of 17, and March had the highest of 37. 

 

This academic year has seen improvements in data recording regarding children on reduced 

timetables.  With the new approach to data recording it is hoped that seasonal fluctuations and 

trend data will become available over time. 

 
Source: VSK data validated by Education Welfare Officers 

A total of 76 looked after children were on a reduced time table at some point during the2016/17 

academic year.  6 children had 2 separate episodes of being on a reduced timetable, so in total there 

were 82 reduced timetable episodes during the year for looked after children. 

32 of the 76 children (42%) had Special Education Needs. 

 

18 17 26 20 28 25 37 29 31 29 23 
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Se
p

-1
6

O
ct

-1
6

N
o

v-
1

6

D
e

c-
1

6

Ja
n

-1
7

Fe
b

-1
7

M
ar

-1
7

A
p

r-
1

7

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
n

-1
7

Ju
l-

1
7

Number of children on reduced time table during the month 

Page 53



 

 
   

P a g e  | 6 

 
Note: For the purposes of this graph a month was counted as a period of 30 days 

30% of the reduced timetable episodes lasted less than a month, and over half lasted less than 2 

months (55%). 

14 of the 82 episodes lasted 5 months or longer (17.1%).  Six of the fourteen children with a reduced 

timetable for 5 months had SEN (43%). 

51 of the reduced timetable episodes were either as a result of the child or young person’s 

behaviour, or behaviour combined with another factor (62%).  Reintegration was the second most 

common reason for a reduced timetable, and was provided in the reasons for twelve episodes (15%). 

Four children were placed on reduced timetables following a fixed term exclusion, and one child was 

on a reduced timetable with the aim of preventing an exclusion.  Three children were on an ESOL 

course (all UASC), and two children were on a reduced timetable awaiting a specialist provision.  

Other reasons included settling into a new school or provision, school refusers and emotional health. 

The attendance requirements for children on reduced timetables need to have a focus to ensure 

there is consistent recording (see section Data Quality).  MIU are working with VSK ensuring 

recording improves so that a detailed analysis of the amount of schooling each child is required to 

attend is available. 

  

25 20 10 5 8 7 1 4 2 
0

5

10

15

20

25

Less
than 1

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
ep

is
o

d
es

 

Duration in months 

Duration of reduced timetables 

Page 54



 

 
   

P a g e  | 7 

Reduced timetable by year group 

As a percentage of all looked after children at the end of July 2017, the proportion on a reduced 

timetable tended to increase with school year group, i.e. the older the child the more likely they 

were to be on a reduced timetable.  Some variation was seen due to the small numbers, but there 

was an overall increasing trend. 

 

Table 1: Reduced timetables by school year of child 

School Year 
Children on RTT 

during year 
All LAC end of July 2017 % of All LAC 

Year R 1 28 3.6% 

Year 1 0 31 0.0% 

Year 2 1 46 2.2% 

Year 3 2 60 3.3% 

Year 4 2 75 2.7% 

Year 5 8 87 9.2% 

Year 6 5 85 5.9% 

Year 7 5 104 4.8% 

Year 8 9 116 7.8% 

Year 9 14 140 10.0% 

Year 10 10 177 5.6% 

Year 11 19 224 8.5% 

Total 76 1173 6.5% 

 

  

3
.6

%
 

0
.0

%
 

2
.2

%
 

3
.3

%
 

2
.7

%
 

9
.2

%
 

5
.9

%
 

4
.8

%
 

7
.8

%
 

1
0

.0
%

 

5
.6

%
 

8
.5

%
 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

Ye
ar

 R

Ye
ar

 1

Ye
ar

 2

Ye
ar

 3

Ye
ar

 4

Ye
ar

 5

Ye
ar

 6

Ye
ar

 7

Ye
ar

 8

Ye
ar

 9

Ye
ar

 1
0

Ye
ar

 1
1

% of All LAC on a reduced timetable 

Page 55



 

 
   

P a g e  | 8 

3.2 Overview of 3+ placements 
 

At the end of July 2017 there were 1,174 compulsory school aged looked after children in Kent, 

comprised of 1,011 citizen children and 163 UASC.  128 of these had 3 or more placements in the last 

12 months (10.9%). 

No difference was identified between the proportions of citizen children and UASC with 3+ 

placements.  Previous analysis1 identified that where children had 3 or more placements, UASC were 

more likely to have a placement move as a result of change to or implementation of care plan, and 

citizen children were more likely to have a placement move at the carer’s request. 

 
 

The majority of compulsory school aged children had only one placement in the last 12 months 

(70.7%), and 89.1% had less than 3 placements. 

 

                                                           
1
 Placement Stability Update: Looked after children with 3 or more placements in 12 months as at 31-Oct-16.  

Produced by SCS Management Information Unit 

900 146 

111 17 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Citizen UASC

Compulsory School Age LAC with 3+ placements 

3+ placements

< 3 placements

830 216 70 23 9 9 7 3 3 2 2 
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
LA

C
 a

s 
at

 3
1

-J
u

ly
-1

7
 

Number of placements in the last 12 months 

Number of placements in the last 12 months  

Page 56



 

 
   

P a g e  | 9 

As at the end of July almost half the school aged looked after children with 3 or more placements 

were in KCC foster care (47%, 60 children).  However, the majority of Kent looked after children are 

placed in KCC foster care. 

When taking into account the proportion of children in each placement type who had 3 or more 

placements, KCC foster care had one of the lowest values.  7.8% of children in KCC foster care at the 

end of July 2017 had 3 or more placements in the last 12 months (60 out of 773 children). 

Children in Leaving Care accommodation had the highest proportion of children with 3+ placements. 

Almost half the children in this placement type had 3 or more placements in the last 12 months (48%, 

11 out of 23 children).  Private and Voluntary2 placements (P&V) also had a high rate of 3 or more 

placements during the last 12 months (27%, 21 out of 77 children). 

 
It should be noted that this report identifies the child’s placement at the end of July 2017, not all 

placements throughout the year.  Children in leaving care arrangements are likely to have had a 

recent move in line with their care plan, and children in P&V placements are likely to have complex 

needs which might have affected their placement stability. 

 

                                                           
2
 Private and Voluntary placements are residential accommodations provided by private or voluntary 

organisations. 

13.1% 7.8% 0.0% 47.8% 15.4% 27.3% 7.7% 17.6% 8.1% 
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

IF
A

K
C

C
 F

o
st

er
 C

ar
e

K
C

C
R

e
si

d
e

n
ti

al

Le
av

in
g 

C
ar

e

O
th

er

P
&

V

P
la

ce
d

 f
o

r
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

P
la

ce
d

 w
it

h
 P

ar
en

ts

R
e

la
ti

ve
s

an
d

 F
ri

en
d

s

Proportion of children in each placement type with 3+ placements 

Page 57



 

 
   

P a g e  | 10 

A lower proportion of primary school aged children had 3 or more placements (5.4%), than 

secondary school aged children (13.8%).  

 

Table 2: 3+ placements by school year of child 

2016/17 School Year < 3 placements 3+ placements Total % 3+ placements 

Year R 14 2 16 12.5% 

Year 1 31 2 33 6.1% 

Year 2 46 2 48 4.2% 

Year 3 54 6 60 10.0% 

Year 4 73 3 76 3.9% 

Year 5 82 5 87 5.7% 

Year 6 82 2 84 2.4% 

Year 7 91 11 102 10.8% 

Year 8 101 17 118 14.4% 

Year 9 123 19 142 13.4% 

Year 10 155 25 180 13.9% 

Year 11 194 34 228 14.9% 

Total 1046 128 1174 10.9% 

 

  

1
2

.5
%

 

6
.1

%
 

4
.2

%
 

1
0

.0
%

 

3
.9

%
 

5
.7

%
 

2
.4

%
 

1
0

.8
%

 

1
4

.4
%

 

1
3

.4
%

 

1
3

.9
%

 

1
4

.9
%

 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%
Ye

ar
 R

Ye
ar

 1

Ye
ar

 2

Ye
ar

 3

Ye
ar

 4

Ye
ar

 5

Ye
ar

 6

Ye
ar

 7

Ye
ar

 8

Ye
ar

 9

Ye
ar

 1
0

Ye
ar

 1
1

3+ placements by School Year Group 

Page 58



 

 
   

P a g e  | 11 

3.3 Analysis of reduced timetables and 3+ placements 
 

As detailed in the methodology, 6 of the 76 children on a reduced timetable during the year were 

excluded from the following analysis because they were not in care as at the end of July 2017 and 

one child was excluded because they were not of compulsory school age. 

69 of the 1,174 school aged looked after children as at 31st July 2017 had been on a reduced 

timetable at some point during the academic year 2016/17 (5.9%). 

  
Children with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months were more likely to be on a reduced 

timetable than children with less than 3 placements.  3.7% of children with less than 3 placements 

during year were recorded as being on a reduced timetable, compared to 23.4% of children with 3 or 

more placements. 

Of the 30 children with 3+ placements and a reduced timetable during the year, 12 were in KCC 

foster care at the end of July 2017.  This represented 1.6% of school age looked after children in KCC 

foster care. 

 

1007 

98 

39 

30 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

< 3 placements 3+ placements

LAC as at July 2017 by timetable during 2016/17 academic year 

Reduced timetable

No RTT recorded

6 12 3 1 7 1 
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

IFA KCC Foster
Care

Leaving Care Other P&V Relatives and
Friends

Children with 3+ placements and RTT by placement type at 31-Jul-17 

Page 59



 

 
   

P a g e  | 12 

Table 3: Placement breakdown by reduced timetables and 3+ placements 

Latest Main Placement As 
At Kent Grouping 

RTT during academic year 

Total 
No Yes 

3+ Placements 3+ Placements 

No Yes No Yes 

IFA 166 21 13 6 206 

KCC Foster Care 697 48 16 12 773 

KCC Residential 15 
   

15 

Leaving Care 11 8 1 3 23 

Other 11 1 
 

1 13 

P&V 51 14 5 7 77 

Placed for Adoption 12 1 
  

13 

Placed with Parents 11 3 3 
 

17 

Relatives and Friends 33 2 1 1 37 

Total 1007 98 39 30 1174 

 

The proportion of children on reduced timetables increased with the number of placements a child 

had in the last 12 months.   It is important to note that this finding identifies a relationship between 

3+ placements and reduced timetables, it does not state that one causes the other. 

 
Table 4: Reduced timetables by the number of placements in the last 12 months 

Number of placements 
in the last 12 months 

No RTT recorded Reduced timetable Total % on reduced timetable 

1 805 25 830 3.0% 

2 202 14 216 6.5% 

3 58 12 70 17.1% 

4 18 5 23 21.7% 

5+ 22 13 35 37.1% 

Total 1,105 69 1,174 5.9% 

 

These findings were checked against LAC who had been in care for 12 months or more, and the same 

pattern was observed. 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

1 2 3 4 5+

Placements in the last 12 months 

Part time timetable by number of placements in the last 
12 months 

No RTT recorded Reduced timetable

Page 60



 

 
   

P a g e  | 13 

3.4 Exclusions 
 

One looked after child had a permanent exclusion during the academic year, and this child was not 

on a reduced time table.  All other exclusions were fixed term (see Data Quality). 

Looked after children on a reduced timetable were more likely to have an exclusion.  Half the 

children on a reduced timetable had at least 1 fixed term exclusion during the year (49.3%). 

 

Children with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months were also more likely to have a fixed term 

exclusion during the year. 

   

  

35 

1002 

34 

103 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Reduced timetable No RTT recorded

Reduced timetables and fixed term exclusions 

Fixed term
exclusion during
academic year

No Exclusion

94 

943 

34 

103 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

3+ placements < 3 placements

Fixed term exclusions by 3+ placements 

Fixed term
exclusion during
academic year

No Exclusion

Page 61



 

 
   

P a g e  | 14 

4. Equalities Analysis of reduced timetables 
 

Gender 

There was no significant difference between males and females and their likelihood of being on a 

reduced timetable. 

Table 5: Reduced timetable by gender 

Gender No RTT recorded RTT during academic year 

Female 428 23 

Male 677 46 

Grand Total 1105 69 

Note: Only includes children who were looked after as at 31-Jul-17 and of compulsory school age in the 

academic year 2016/17 

Ethnicity 

It was not possible to accurately identify whether ethnicity is a factor for reduced timetables due to 

the small numbers. 

Table 6: Reduced timetable by ethnicity 

Ethnicity Grouped No RTT recorded RTT during academic year 

Any other Ethnicity 97 Less than 5 

Asian 22 0 

Black 56 Less than 5 

Mixed background 60 Less than 5 

White 870 62 

Grand Total 1105 69 

Note: Only includes children who were looked after as at 31-Jul-17 and of compulsory school age in the 

academic year 2016/17 

Age 

Age has been included in the main report, in analysis of school year group (section 3.1 Overview of 

reduced timetables).  

Page 62



 

 
   

P a g e  | 15 

5. Conclusions 
 

This analysis has identified that there is a relationship between reduced timetables and multiple 

placements. 

The proportion of children on reduced timetables increased with the number of placements a child 

had in the last 12 months.  However, the presence of a relationship does not mean that one factor 

has caused the other.  Children may have complex needs which affect both their education and their 

placement stability. 

It was identified that children on reduced timetables and children with 3+ placements in the last 12 

months were both more likely to have an exclusion. 

Insight about children on a reduced timetable would benefit from some further improvements in the 

information centrally recorded about children on reduced timetables. 

  

Page 63



 

 
   

P a g e  | 16 

6. Data Quality 
 

There have been significant improvements in the data quality for children on reduced timetables.  

With the new approach to data recording it is hoped that seasonal fluctuations and trend data will 

become available over time, but it was not possible to include in this report. 

The Education Welfare Officers record the number of marks3 that a child is on a reduced timetable, 

the number of hours, and comments about attendance requirements.  This is collated within Virtual 

Schools Kent (VSK).   

Currently this data is not held in a consistent format, and the three data items often contained 

contradictory information.  It was also unclear whether the marks and hours provided indicated the 

number that the child was expected to attend, or the number that the child was not required to 

attend.  In order to accurately monitor the amount of education that children on reduced timetables 

receive, it is recommended that the data quality surrounding this measure is improved. 

Insight into children on reduced timetables would also benefit from central and consistent recording 

of the start and end dates of each period of reduced timetable, along with the reasons and, where 

applicable, the extent of any additional tutoring being provided. 

                                                           
3
 A mark comprises of either a morning or afternoon of education, i.e. there are 2 marks per day and 10 marks 

per week for full time education 

Page 64


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 21 July 2017
	21 July VSK update

	5 Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards
	6 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member
	7 Update on Mind Of My Own app for Children and Young People
	8 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care
	Item 8 App 1 - Children in Care Performance Report - June 2017

	9 Placement Stability - the Sense Of Belonging service
	Item 9 App 1 Sense of Belonging
	Item 9 App 2 - 3+ placements and Reduced Timetables


